ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The prosecutor committed prejudicial misconduct that violated Mr.
Woodward's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.

2. The prosecutor improperly shifted the burden of proof in closing
argument by equating the absence of medical evidence of Mr.
Woodward's defense with a prosecutor's failure to prove the offense.

3. Mr. Woodward was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right
to the effective assistance of counsel.

4. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to prosecutorial
misconduct in closing argument.

5. The trial judge violated Mr. Woodward's state and federal
constitutional rights to due process and to an impartial jury by
erroneously refusing to excuse a biased juror, who remained on the
jury and voted to convict Mr. Woodward.

6. The trial judge violated Mr. Woodward's state constitutional right to
an impartial jury by refusing to excuse three jurors for cause and
thereby forcing him to exhaust his peremptory challenges.

7. The trial court miscalculated Mr. Woodward's offender score.

8. The evidence was insufficient to prove that counts two and three
comprised separate criminal conduct.

9. The trial court erred by failing to find that counts two and three were
the same criminal conduct.

10. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.1 of the
Judgment and Sentence.

11. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.3 of the
Judgment and Sentence.

12. The trial court erred by sentencing Mr. Woodward with an offender
score of six.



13. The trial judge violated Mr. Woodward's right to due process and his
right to a jury determination of every fact used to increase the penalty
for a crime by finding that the molestation and rape of A.G. occurred
at different times and places, absent a jury finding to that effect.

14. The trial judge erred by sentencing Mr. Woodward under RCW
9.94A.507.

15. The trial judge violated Mr. Woodward's right to due process and his
right to a jury determination of every fact used to increase the penalty
for a crime by sentencing him under RCW 9.94A.507 for offenses that
may have occurred prior to enactment of that statute.

16. The trial judge erred by sentencing Mr. Woodward under RCW
9.94A.507 absent a jury finding that the three offenses were committed
after September 1, 2001 (the effective date of the statute).

17. Mr. Woodward should have been sentenced to a determinate sentence.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

It is misconduct for a prosecutor to shift the burden of proof
during closing argument. In this case, the state's attorney
improperly equated the lack of medical evidence presented by
the defense with the failure of a prosecutor to prove an offense.
Did the prosecutor commit misconduct that infringed Mr.
Woodward's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?

2. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an accused
person the effective assistance of counsel. Here, counsel failed
to object to prejudicial misconduct during the prosecuting
attorney's closing. Was Mr. Woodward denied his Sixth and
Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of
counsel?

A new trial is required whenever the erroneous denial of a
challenge for cause results in a jury that includes a biased juror.
In this case, the trial judge erroneously refused to excuse for
cause Juror 27, who sat on the jury that convicted Mr.
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Woodward. Did the convictions violate Mr. Woodward's Sixth

and Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process and to an
impartial jury?

4. The state constitutional right to a jury trial is violated when an
accused person is forced to exhaust peremptory challenges to
remove a biased juror, after the trial judge erroneously denies a
challenge for cause. In this case, the trial judge incorrectly
denied three challenges for cause, and Mr. Woodward was
forced to exhaust his peremptory challenges removing two of
the three biased jurors; the third remained on the jury. Did the
trial judge violate Mr. Woodward's state constitutional right to
a jury trial?

5. Multiple current offenses comprise the same criminal conduct
for purposes of calculating the offender score if they occurred
at the same time and place and if they were committed for the
same overall criminal purpose against the same victim. In this
case, Mr. Woodward was convicted of raping and molesting
A.G., but the prosecution did not allege or prove that the
offenses occurred on different occasions. Did the trial judge
abuse his discretion by scoring counts two and three
separately?

6. An accused person has a right to have the jury determine every
fact which increases the penalty for a crime. In this case, the
jury did not find that counts two and three occurred at separate
times or places, or that any of the three offenses occurred after
September 1, 2001 (the effective date of RCW9.94A.507).
Did the sentencing court violate Mr. Woodward's state and
federal rights to a jury trial and to due process by scoring
counts two and three as separate criminal conduct and by
sentencing Mr. Woodward under RCW 9.94A.507?

3



STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Robert Woodward suffers several severe health problems,

including arthritis, a stroke, a blood disease and hepatitis C, the last of

which required two separate and very difficult treatment periods. RP 901,

976, 996 -1002, 1057 -1060. His illnesses and treatments affected his

ability to hold jobs, to use his hands, to perform sexually, and to

participate in family activities. RP 976 -977, 988, 996 -1002, 1030, 1057-

1061, 1071.

Mr. Woodward and his wife Amanda Woodward effectively raised

her grandchildren, A.G. and H.G. (born in 1994 and 1996, respectively).

RP 805 -806, 817, 835 -837, 882, 896, 926 -927, 966, 1054. As A.G. got

older, she wanted more independence. Mr. Woodward built her a

bedroom in an outbuilding near the house. RP 807, 839. A.G. was

allowed to have friends stay with her there. RP 845 -846, 893 -894, 985,

1070. When she was sixteen, she wanted her boyfriend to stay with her.

The Woodwards said no, which angered A.G. RP 879, 1015, 1051 -1052.

She moved to her aunt's house, where her boyfriend joined her. RP 779,

804, 809, 819, 917.

When Mrs. Woodward asked her to come home, A.G. said she

would not because Mr. Woodward had molested her. RP 858 -860, 1023.
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A police report was made: A.G. alleged that Mr. Woodward molested

H.G. as well, and H.G. eventually supported that story. RP 767 -781, 877-

The state charged Mr. Woodward with two counts of Child

Molestation in the First Degree and one count of Rape of a Child in the

First Degree. Count one alleged molestation of H.G. between January 1,

1999 and August 30, 2008. Count two alleged molestation of A.G.

between January 1, 1999 and January 31, 2006. Count three alleged rape

of A.G. between January 1, 1999 and January 31, 2006. CP 21 -23.

The case went to trial, and the jury was unable to reach a verdict.

RP 40, 564 -568. The court declared a mistrial and the state tried Mr.

Woodward again. RP 567, 570 -1163.

During jury selection for the retrial, the court conducted individual

questioning for several jurors, including Jurors 3, 26, and 27. Juror 3 said

his wife and her younger sister had both been "forcibly raped" by their

mother's boyfriend years earlier. RP 601. He said that they had made a

report and pursued prosecution, but that the offender "got off." Because

of this, Juror 3 said that he might have difficulty being fair. He said that

H.G. didn't wish to cooperate with the prosecution, and even had her own
attorney. She did end up testifying and did tell the jury that Mr. Woodward molested her. RP
2, 34, 780 -783, 801 -803, 924 -962, 1044 -1045.
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even though his wife is 51 now, she still has problems stemming from the

offense. RP 601. The court engaged Juror 3 in a colloquy:

THE COURT: And what we are really trying to get at is can you
wall off those life experiences so that they don't affect your ability
to hear the evidence and make a fair determination, fair to both
sides?

JUROR NUMBER 3: I believe I probably could, but, you know,
that's where I'm at on that.

THE COURT: Okay.
JUROR NUMBER 3: Of all the different things that could —this
would be the more disgusting thing for me. So in all the
possibilities of people doing whatever they do, this is not — this is

not really good at all. So, I mean I — I...

RP 602.

The prosecutor also asked questions of Juror 3:

MR. DORCY: And so the — the question boils down to can — can

you make that decision? And can you base that decision on the
evidence that you hear in court, without letting what you know of
your wife's experience affect the way you would decide the case?
Okay?
JUROR NUMBER 3: Well —

MR. DORCY: Does that make sense?

JUROR NUMBER 3: Yes.

MR. DORCY: Okay.
JUROR NUMBER 3: What I can tell you is I would try.
MR. DORCY: Okay.
JUROR NUMBER 3: That's about as good as you're going to get.
I would weigh everything I would hear.
MR. DORCY: Uh huh.

JUROR NUMBER 3: When — when I came in here and they said
what the — what the crime was, I have a — all I can tell you is I have
a shiver go up my spine —
MR. DORCY: Uh huh.

JUROR NUMBER 3: — that's all. So it's — you know, so that's — I

don't know if I can stop that or not from happening. But —

E



MR. DORCY: And you can base that decision on the evidence and
the law?

JUROR NUMBER 3: Well, it would be the evidence and I guess,
the Judge would tell me what the law is.
MR. DORCY: Right, that's right.
JUROR NUMBER 3: So — so —

MR. DORCY: Okay, great. Thank you.
JUROR NUMBER 3: But that would be one thing.
RP 604 -607.

Juror 27 was a teacher; he knew the alleged victims as well as

several other people on the witness list. RP 679 -681. He told the court

that he was the IEP manager for one of the witnesses, and that serving as a

juror would be "awkward ". RP 679 -682. The prosecuting attorney noted

that he and his brother had grown up with the children of this particular

teacher. RP 681. The teacher claimed that he could be fair. RP 680 -681.

Juror 26 said that she might be too sympathetic to be an

appropriate juror, and that she was not sure that she could check her

sympathy at the door. RP 707. Upon further questioning, she said she did

not believe that she could put her sympathy aside. RP 707 -708. She

continued to equivocate when questioned by the prosecutor. RP 709 -710.

In the end, after repeatedly expressing how uncertain she was, she said

only "I think I can do that" when asked if she could decide the case based

on the evidence and the law. RP 710.

The defense moved to excuse all three of these jurors for cause, but

the court denied the motions. RP 607 -608, 682 -683, 711. Mr. Woodward
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used his peremptory challenges to remove Jurors 3 and 26, and exhausted

his challenges without removing Juror 27. RP 742 -745; Jury Roll Call,

Supp. CP; Jury Panel, Supp. CP.

At trial, Mr. and Mrs. Woodward both testified about his medical

conditions, the treatments he had undergone, and the effects on his life.

RP 963 -1095.

During his closing argument, the prosecutor made the following

argument to the jury:

S]omehow those treatments or illnesses starting in 1999
prevented him from having either the opportunity or the sexual
interest to have committed the crimes that he's alleged to have
committed. And yet both parties are entitled to the— you know,
your verdict is to be based upon the evidence and lack of evidence.
If after a full and fair consideration of the case, based on the

evidence and lack of evidence that you have, you have an abiding
belief — belief in the truth of the charge, then you are satisfied
beyond a reasonable doubt. And your instructions tell you that both
sides have — are entitled to the benefit of the evidence, regardless
of who introduced evidence. I would submit to you that that
extends implicitly, if not explicitly in the instructions, to the lack
of evidence.

And when the claim is made that the defendant has some

sort of medical issue that prevents him from even being capable of
committing the crime that he's accused to have committed, and
when any reasonable person with a medical claim that would have
prevented them from some medical condition having the ability to
commit the crimes with which he was committed would come

forward with some sort of medical evidence that here's — here's the

evidence, here's the doctor — here's the — the doctor, the nurse,

here's the medical records, something that documents that I have
this condition and that it — it has resulted in these effects of erectile

dysfunction, or the lack of any sexual desire, or the lack of an
ability to achieve an erection, or the lack of the ability to ejaculate.



Those things would be presented to you by a reasonable person.
And — and you don't have any evidence along those lines in this
case.

RP 1133 -1134.

This time, the jury convicted Mr. Woodward of all three charges.

CP 6.

The court's instructions did not require the jury to specify the

timeframe within which each offense occurred. Nor did the instructions

require the jury to find that counts two and three (offenses against A.G.)

occurred at separate times or at different places. Court's Instructions,

Supp. CP. Nor did the jury return special verdicts on any of these topics.

Verdict Forms, Supp. CP.

At sentencing, the parties agreed that Mr. Woodward had no

criminal history. RP 1169.

Without argument or comment, the court found that counts two

and three were not the same course of conduct, and scored the two

offenses separately. CP 6 -7. The court determined that Mr. Woodward

had an offender score of six, and sentenced him to life in prison, with a

minimum term of 130 months (counts one and two) and 216 months

count three). CP 8.

Mr. Woodward timely appealed. CP 5.
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ARGUMENT

I. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT THAT WAS

FLAGRANT AND ILL - INTENTIONED.

A. Standard of Review

Prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal if there is a substantial

likelihood that it affected the verdict. In re Glasmann, Wash.2d ,

286 P.3d 673 (2012). Even absent an objection, error may be

reviewed if it is "so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction would

not have cured the prejudice." Id, at

Furthermore, prosecutorial misconduct may be argued for the first

time on appeal if it is a manifest error that affects a constitutional right.

Where prosecutorial misconduct infringes a constitutional right, prejudice

is presumed. State v. Toth, 152 Wash. App. 610, 615, 217 P.3d 377

2009). The burden is on the state to show harmlessness beyond a

reasonable doubt. State v. Irby, 170 Wash.2d 874, 886, 246 P.3d 796

2011).

2 Citations are to the lead opinion in Glassman. Although signed by only four
justices, the opinion should be viewed as a majority opinion, given that Justice Chambers
agree[d] with the lead opinion that the prosecutor's misconduct in this case was so flagrant
and ill intentioned that a curative instruction would not have cured the error and that the

defendant was prejudiced as a result of the misconduct." Glasmann, at ( Chambers, J.,

concurring). Justice Chambers wrote separately because he was "stunned" by the position
taken by the prosecution. Id.
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B. The prosecutor improperly shifted and misstated the burden of
proof in closing argument.

The state and federal constitutions secure for an accused person the

right to a fair trial. Glasmann, at ; U.S. Const. Amend. VI; U.S.

Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. Article I, Section 22. Prosecutorial

misconduct can deprive an accused person of this right. Glasmann, at

A prosecuting attorney commits misconduct by making a closing

argument that shifts or misstates the burden of proof. State v. Dixon, 150

Wash. App. 46, 55, 207 P.3d 459 (2009); United States v. Perlaza, 439

F.3d 1149, 1171 (9th Cir. 2006). It is improper even to imply that the

defense has a duty to present evidence relating to an element of the

charged crime. Toth, at 615. Similarly, "[m]isstating the basis on which a

jury can acquit insidiously shifts the requirement that the State prove the

defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Glasmann, at

In this case, the prosecutor misstated the burden of proof when he

told jurors:

And your instructions tell you that both sides ... are entitled to the

benefit of the evidence, regardless of who introduced evidence. I
would submit to you that that extends implicitly, if not explicitly in
the instructions, to the lack of evidence.

RP 1134 (emphasis added).
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This argument falsely equated a prosecutor's failure to produce evidence

with an accused person's failure to produce evidence. This is burden

shifting. When the prosecution fails to produce evidence on an element,

the result is acquittal; however, when the defense fails to produce

evidence, the lack of such evidence does not require conviction.

By linking this improper argument to the lack of medical testimony

regarding the impact of Mr. Woodward'smedical conditions and the side

effects of his treatments), the prosecutor suggested that Mr. Woodward

was obligated to produce such evidence, and that his failure to do so

required conviction in the same way that a failure of the state's proof

would require acquittal. These arguments improperly shifted and

misstated the burden of proof. They are flagrant and ill intentioned, and

are presumed prejudicial. Glasmann, at ; Toth, at 615.

Mr. Woodward's defense rested in part on medical impossibility.

By equating the absence of medical evidence of this defense with a failure

of proof by the prosecution, the prosecutor violated Mr. Woodward's right

to a fair trial. Glasmann, at . Accordingly, the convictions must be

reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. Id.
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II. MR. WOODWARD WAS DENIED HIS SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH

AMENDMENT RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF

KI11Jfy 11 IA

A. Standard of Review

An ineffective assistance claim presents a mixed question of law and

fact, requiring de novo review. State v. A.N.J., 168 Wash.2d 91, 109, 225

P.3d 956 (2010).

B. An accused person is constitutionally entitled to the effective
assistance of counsel.

The Sixth Amendment provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions,

the accused shall enjoy the right ... to have the Assistance of Counsel for

his defense." U.S. Const. Amend. VI. This provision is applicable to the

states through the Fourteenth Amendment. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV;

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 342, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799

1963). Likewise, Article I, Section 22. of the Washington Constitution

provides, "In criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have the right to

appear and defend in person, or by counsel...." Wash. Const. Article I,

Section 22. The right to counsel is "one of the most fundamental and

cherished rights guaranteed by the Constitution." United States v. Salemo,

61 F.3d 214, 221 -222 (3rd Cir. 1995).

An appellant claiming ineffective assistance must show (1) that

defense counsel's conduct was deficient, falling below an objective

13



standard of reasonableness; and (2) that the deficient performance resulted

in prejudice - "a reasonable possibility that, but for the deficient conduct,

the outcome of the proceeding would have differed." State v.

Reichenbach, 153 Wash.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004). (citing

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674

1984)).

The presumption that defense counsel performed adequately is

overcome when there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining

counsel's performance. Reichenbach, at 130. Further, there must be some

indication in the record that counsel was actually pursuing the alleged

strategy. See, e.g., State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wash.2d 61, 78 -79, 917 P.2d

563 (1996) (the state's argument that counsel "made a tactical decision by

not objecting to the introduction of evidence of ... prior convictions has no

support in the record. ")

C. Mr. Woodward was denied the effective assistance of counsel by
his attorney's failure to object to repeated instances of
prosecutorial misconduct that were flagrant and ill intentioned.

Failure to object to improper closing arguments is objectively

unreasonable under most circumstances:

At a minimum, an attorney who believes that opposing counsel has
made improper closing arguments should request a bench
conference at the conclusion of the opposing argument, where he
or she can lodge an appropriate objection out [of] the hearing of
the jury.... Such an approach preserves the continuity of each
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closing argument, avoids calling the attention of the jury to any
improper statement, and allows the trial judge the opportunity to
make an appropriate curative instruction or, if necessary, declare a
mistrial.

Hodge v. Hurley, 426 F.3d 368, 386 (6r Cir., 2005).

Here, defense counsel should have objected to the prosecutor's

flagrant and ill- intentioned misconduct. The prohibition against

misstating or shifting the burden of proof is well established. By failing to

object, counsel's performance thus fell below an objective standard of

reasonableness. At a minimum, Mr. Woodward's lawyer should have

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