COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

٧.

ROBERT WOODWARD, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County
The Honorable Toni A, Sheldon

No. 11-1-00088-5

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY
Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

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

C. ARGUMENT

1) At trial of this matter, Woodward proposed to the jury an exculpatory theory alleging that he was medically unable, due to sexual dysfunction, to have committed the crimes with which he was accused. Woodward failed to present a doctor's testimony, medical records, or other corroborating evidence to support his defense. Where such evidence, if it existed, would have been within Woodward's control, did the prosecutor commit misconduct by commenting on the lack of evidence to support Woodward's exculpatory theory?

During the trial of this case, Woodward presented his own testimony and the testimony of his wife to claim as a defense that he was seriously ill and that an effect of his illness was that he had no sex drive at all and that he was unable to engage in sexual activity, unable to obtain an erection, and unable to ejaculate. RP 977-978, 1061-1062. This testimony was provided to the jury even though Woodward's wife, during the pre-trial investigation, told a detective that she and Woodward had a normal, healthy sex life. RP 1030.

In closing argument, the State commented on the lack of any medical evidence to support or corroborate Woodward's assertion that he was incapable of committing the crimes with he was charged because he

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

had no sex drive, was impotent, and was unable to ejaculate. RP 1134. Woodward did not object to the prosecutor's arguments. RP 1134-1135.

On appeal, Woodward claims that the prosecutor's comments shifted the burden of proof and, therefore, denied him a fair trial.

Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 11-12.

Where a defendant fails to object to a prosecutor's closing argument at trial, on appeal the defendant must show that the prosecutor's argument was misconduct and that the misconduct "was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it caused an 'enduring and resulting prejudice' incurable by a jury instruction." State v. Sakellis, 164 Wn. App. 170, 184-185, 269 P.3d 1029 (2011), review denied, Wn.2d , P.3d ____ (Jan. 9, 2013, No. 86695-3), citing State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 841, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006) (quoting State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 719, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)). In the instant case, Woodward has not made this showing. To make this showing, Woodward must show that: "(1) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that 'had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict,' and (2) no curative instruction would have obviated the prejudicial effect on the jury." Sakellis at 184, quoting State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). The State urges that the prosecutor's comments were not misconduct, but that even if misconduct had occurred on these facts, given the great strength of the

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

evidence, there was little likelihood that these comments affected the jury verdict and that in any event a curative instruction would have obviated the effect.

The prosecutor's comments in this context were not error, because it is not error for the prosecutor to comment on Woodward's lack of evidence to support his exculpatory theory. *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 551-552, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012), citing *State v. Anderson*, 153 Wn. App. 417, 428, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009).

A prosecutor may commit misconduct if he or she comments or argues that a defendant has failed to present any evidence or has failed to rebut the State's allegations of guilt. See, e.g., *State v. Fleming*, 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996). Likewise, a prosecutor may commit misconduct by arguing that a defendant is guilty "based simply on the defendant's failure to present evidence to support his defense theory." *State v. Sells*, 166 Wn. App. 918, 930, 271 P.3d 952 (2012). However, "[a] prosecutor is entitled to point out a lack of evidentiary support for the defendant's theory of the case." *Id.* at 930.

The court has, however, found that the State commits misconduct when it argues during closing that the defendant has a duty to present corroborating evidence to support its exculpatory theory. See, e.g., *State*

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

v. Toth, 152 Wn. App. 610, 217 P.3d 377 (2009). As distinguished from the facts of Toth, however, in the instant case, the prosecutor argued that:

[W]hen the claim is made that the defendant has some sort of medical issue that prevents him from even being capable of committing the crime that he's accused to have committed, and when any reasonable person with a medical claim that would have prevented them from some medical condition having the ability to commit the crimes with which he was committed would come forward with some sort of medical evidence that here's -- here's the evidence, here's the doctor -- here's the --the doctor, the nurse, here's the medical records, something that documents that I have this condition and that it -- it has resulted in these effects of erectile dysfunction, or the lack of any sexual desire, or the lack of an ability to achieve an erection, or the lack of the ability to ejaculate. Those things would be presented to you by a reasonable person. And -- and you don't have any evidence along those lines in this case.

RP 1134. The prosecutor did not argue or assert that Woodward had a *duty* to present evidence. *Id*.

In the instant case, the prosecutor merely pointed out that corroborating evidence in the form of medical evidence was within Woodward's control and that a reasonable person who asserted a medical condition as an absolute defense would have presented medical evidence to corroborate the defense. *Id.* The corroborating medical evidence, if it existed, was properly part of the case, was in Woodward's interest to present, and was within Woodward's control; thus, the prosecutor's comments regarding Woodward's failure to present that evidence were

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

not improper. See, e.g., *State v. Hartzell*, 153 Wn. App. 137, 162, 221 P.3d 928 (2009), citing *State v. Blair*, 117 Wash.2d 479, 485–91, 816 P.2d 718 (1991); see also, *State v. Barrow*, 60 Wn. App. 869, 872, 809 P.2d 209, *review denied*, 118 Wn.2d 1007 (1991) (If a defendant presents an exculpatory theory that could have been supported by the testimony of an uncalled witness, the prosecutor may properly question a defendant's failure to provide corroborating evidence).

Woodward presented his wife's testimony and testified himself that he had a medical condition that made it impossible to commit the crimes with which he was accused. RP 977-978, 1061-1062. The prosecutor responded by pointing out in closing argument that when asserting a medical defense which, if true, would make it impossible for the defendant to have committed the crimes with which he was accused, a reasonable person would have presented a doctor's testimony or medical records to corroborate the defense. RP 1134. The prosecutor did not argue or imply that Woodward was guilty merely because he did not corroborate his defense; nor did the prosecutor suggest that Woodward had a duty to present evidence. *Id.* Instead, the prosecutor merely pointed out that although corroborating evidence should be available to Woodward, there was nevertheless a lack of evidence to corroborate

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

Woodward's assertion that it was medically impossible for him to have committed the crimes with which he was charged. *Id.*

On the facts of the instant case, the prosecutor did not err by commenting on the lack of evidence to support Woodward's exculpatory theory. See, e.g., *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 551-552, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012), citing *State v. Anderson*, 153 Wn. App. 417, 428, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009).

2) Defense counsel was not ineffective.

Ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-pronged test that requires the reviewing court to consider whether trial counsel's performance was deficient and, if so, whether counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial for which the result is unreliable. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1984); *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260, 1268 -1269 (2011).

Additionally, to establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Woodward must show that his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Woodward claims that his trial counsel's performance was ineffective because counsel did not object

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

when the prosecutor pointed out to the jury that, because Woodward did not present a doctor's testimony or present medical records to corroborate his assertion that he was medically incapable of committing the crimes of child molestation and rape of a child, there was a lack of evidence (other than the testimony of Woodward and his wife) to support Woodward's exculpatory assertion. Appellant's Opening Brief at pp. 11-12, 14-15. The State asserts that because the prosecutor's argument was not improper, defense counsel's failure to object was not below an objective standard of reasonableness.

Finally, to demonstrate prejudice Woodward must show that, but for the deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697; *State v. Foster*, 140 Wn. App. 266, 273, 166 P.3d 726 (2007). Woodward has not made this showing.

3) Because no juror who sat on Woodward's trial was biased, Woodward received a fair trial and there was no error in selecting the jury.

Woodward claims two separate and distinct errors related to jury selection in this case.

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

The first error Woodward alleges is that he did not receive a fair trial because, he alleges, Juror No. 27 was biased but nevertheless served as a juror at his trial. Appellant's Opening Brief at pp. 16-17. Woodward alleges that the trial court judge erroneously denied Woodward's motion to strike Juror No. 27 for cause. *Id.*

As the second jury selection error, Woodward alleges that jurors 3 and 26 were also biased and that the trial court erroneously denied his motion to remove these two jurors for cause, thus forcing Woodward to expend peremptory strikes to excuse jurors 3 and 26 from the jury.

Appellant's Opening Brief at pp. 17-23. Premised upon his assertion that jurors 3 and 26 were biased, Woodward asserts that forcing him to exercise peremptory strikes to excuse those jurors violated his state constitutional right to a jury trial. *Id.* at 17.

Because both of Woodward's assignments of error regarding jury selection are premised upon his assertions that certain jurors were biased, the State's response will begin with an examination of whether these jurors were biased. The State's response will then separately examine Woodward's two assignments of error.

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

a) Summary of Facts Regarding Juror No. 27

Juror No. 27 told the court and parties that he had been a teacher for 40 years and had been a coach for 41 years and that he, therefore, knew a lot of kids. RP 679. Upon reflection, he remembered that he knew the "potential victim" in the case, because, he said, "I've had her in class." RP 679. He remembered and knew her name because he had her in class "as a substitute one year." RP 680.

Juror No. 27 also disclosed that he was then currently mentoring a boy whose last name was the same as the defendant's. RP 680. In response, the court inquired of Juror No. 27, as follows: "And then I don't know what connection your person that you're mentoring has to the defendant in this case. But if there was some familial connection, would that make it difficult to be fair?" RP 681. The juror answered, "Probably not. It might be real awkward -- at school, yeah." RP 681. Juror No. 27 said that he also knew "numerous kids" who were on the witness list. RP 682. Again, he said that knowing the potential witnesses would not make it difficult for him to be fair, but that it would be "just awkward again because one of those other students that were on the list there, I'm his IEP manager at the high school. So I'm in contact with him all the time. So -- [.]" RP 682.

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

During the voir dire, the prosecutor brought up that he and his brother had grown up with Juror No. 27's kids, to which Juror No. 27 responded affirmatively. RP 681. No citation to the record was located where there is any indication that there was a connection between the defendant and the child the juror was mentoring.

Woodward moved to have Juror No. 27 removed for cause. RP 683. The court denied the motion. RP 683. Juror No. 27 returned to the panel. RP 683.

After Juror No. 27 rejoined the full panel, he volunteered an answer to a question posed to the entire panel by the prosecutor. RP 695. He said that he had been on a prior jury and that the foreperson of that jury initially did not follow the instructions of the court. RP 695-696. Juror No. 27 explained that, "you have to follow what the judge says." RP 696.

Later still during voir dire of the entire panel, Juror No. 27 responded to Woodward's questioning of the panel and said that as a teacher, he tries to avoid being alone with a student, especially female students. RP 719-20. Juror No. 27 explained, "... I've had friends of mine that have been in the teacher profession that have had falsely -- false accusations put on them because they put themselves, or allowed themselves, in those situations," RP 720.

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

No citation to the record was located where Woodward renewed his motion to strike Juror No. 27 for cause or where he moved to exercise a peremptory challenge to strike Juror No. 27.

b) Summary of facts regarding Juror No. 3

Juror #3 said that when his wife was 12 years old, she and her younger sister were forcibly raped by her mother's boyfriend. RP 601.

Juror #3 said the perpetrator "got off" because "they didn't have the right evidence...." RP 601.

Juror #3 said, "My wife now is 51 years and she still has problems along those lines. So she would be definitely not the person you'd want to be sitting in this chair...." RP 601.

The court inquired of Juror No. 3 as follows: "And what we are really trying to get at is can you wall off those life experiences so that they don't affect your ability to hear the evidence and make a fair determination, fair to both sides?" RP 602.

Juror No. 3 answered, "I believe I probably could, but, you know, that's where I'm at on that. Of all the different things that could -- this would be the more disgusting thing for me. So in all the possibilities of people doing whatever they do, this is not -- this is not really good at all. So, I mean I -- I -- [.]" RP 602.

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

The prosecutor asked Juror No. 3 whether the he could set aside his wife's experience and decide the facts of the case based upon the evidence presented in court, to which the juror answered: "What I can tell you is I would try. That's about as good as you're going to get. I would weigh everything I would hear. When -- when I came in here and they said what the -- what the crime was, I have a -- all I can tell you is I have a shiver go up my spine...[.]" RP 604. When asked whether he might be influenced in his verdict by how his wife might react if he acquitted the defendant, Juror No. 3 said: "As... far as my wife goes, I wouldn't even tell her about it. And you know, that wouldn't make any difference to me. 'Cause either I feel the person did it or they didn't do it. From whatever you give -- whatever information you give me will tell me that." RP 606. The prosecutor asked Juror No. 3 whether he could base his verdict on the evidence and the law, to which the juror responded: "Well, it would be the evidence and I guess, the Judge would tell me what the law is." RP 607.

Woodward moved to excuse the juror for cause. RP 607. The court denied the challenge. RP 608.

Woodward exercised a peremptory challenge and struck Juror No. 3 from the jury panel. RP 744.

State's Response Brief Case No. 43573-0-II

c) Summary of facts regarding Juror No. 26

During voir dire of the entire panel, Juror No. 26 indicated that he might be too sympathetic. RP 706. He explained as follows: "There is a possibility. I'm pretty sympathetic to other people's issues." RP 707. In regard to empathy or sympathy, Woodward asked Juror No. 26 whether he'd be able to "check those at the door[,]" to which the juror answered, "I -- I'm not sure." RP 707.

Inquiring further, Woodward asked addressed Juror No. 26 as follows: "Do you think that it would get in the way or your being able to deliberate in an honest -- bad choice of word, honest. Do you think you'll be able to deliberate in -- in a way that you would want a juror to deliberate if you were sitting in this chair?" RP 708. Juror No. 26 answered, "I'm -- I -- I can't really answer that. I -- I don't know." RP 708. Woodward clarified, asking Juror No. 26 whether he'd be able to set his sympathy aside, to which Juror No. 26 answered, "No, I don't think so." RP 708.

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